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Chapter1 - In the Beginning

The beglaning of the nineteenth century saw the growth of the professional
middle classes in England and, at the same time, the tradition of very large
Victorlan {amilies became established. Amongst the well-to-do it was
customary for girls to be educated, to the Hmited extent then considered
necessary, at home by a Governess but very many were not able to afford this
alternative to the new Primary and Secondary Schools being set up by the
churches and by local authorities, which were usually not considered suitable
for the children of professional people.

This need for an affordable education for the new middle class was met in
part by the foundation of a large number of charitzble schools. There was a
great deal of wealth in the country at this period in our history and the
consclences of the wealthy prompled them to give generously to charily.
Most of the charitable schools were founded for & specific purpose, usually
for the sons and daughters of the clergy or for the children of officers of the
Mavy and Army.

Mearly all the charitable schools of this time owed Lhelr foundation to people
of outstanding drive and initistive, who saw the need for the particular
charity and who had the vision and ability te put the dream into reality.
Such & man was the Reverend Henry Venn Elliott, the founder of St Mary's
Hall, whe gave generously of his time and personal fortune. His service lo
this school and that of his family are given in greater detail in Chapter 2.

We do not know when he first appreciated the need for a school for the
daughters of poor Clergy in Brighton but In 1832 he issued the first
prospestus soliciting donations and the next year went to visit the Clergy
Daughters’ School at Casterlon, the foundation of his Cambridge friend, the
Reverend W. Carus Wllson. Carus Wilson ix described as a clergyman of
genercus impulses, (urlous energy and overbearing temperament. Casterton
was not a very happy place, being in one of the bleakest parts of the United
Kingdom and run with grim Calvinism by its founder. Charlotte Bronté
describes life at the School in “Jane Eyre” and her assessment was later
confirmed by Mrs Gaskell in her life of Charlolte Bronté.

Henry Yenn Elliott must have seen a different side of Caslerton for he wrole
about the place “I would rather have built this school and church than
Blenheim or Burleigh. 1offered up a liltle prayer that the Brighton Schoal
might receive a similar blessing . . .~ He was courting his future wife at the
time and In all likelihood was in the mood to see only that which was
pleasing to him!

There was a good response to the prospectus, land was given by the
Marquess of Bristol (the first land offercd by the Marguess was the plot
where St Mark's now stands, Mr Elliott refused it because it was opposite
the mews) and the architect, George Basevi, made 2 glfl of the plans of the
building. Basevi was architect of the FilzWillism Museum, Cambridge, lived
in Brighton and had mel Mr Elfiott during his travels in Greece.

On 205l April 1834 he foundstion stone was laid by Lady Augustina
Seymour, Lord Bristol’s daughter, A few friends were thers together with
the contractor, Mr Doubleday and his family and the workmen. We do nol
know where the stone is; it was probably covered by the rendering and in
any case there i6 no record of any inscription on it Mr Elliott says: “They all
took off their caps, and I read from the Prayer Book a few collects, Paalm 121
followed; 2nd thal was all; and then we returned to our respective homes.”

There was a hurricane on 20th November 1835 and the school suffered some
demage. Some alterations were 2lso necessary and the original contrsct price
of £3513 rose to £4250. The building was to have been finished in
November 1834 but was delayed because of the repairs and allerations and
was finally opened on 151 August 1636, although the building was nat even
then quite ready.

The words of Mrs Elliott give a vivid sccount of the cecasion:- “We
swallowed s little dinner as quickly as might be, loaded & iy with lingn and
provisions, and went up, You may think how our hearts beat. Oh! if you
could but have seen us, and been with us, in the pretty Litle muallion
windowed room aver the enlrance. (The Head mistress’ Study then and still
50 loday). It looked so pleasant; a bright fire, the floor carpeted, Lhe t=ble
spread with tea, happy fsces round it, our hearts full of a thousand mingled
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emotions! It was the beginning of the accomplishment of hapes so long
cherished, the dawn of a day that should go on in increasing brightness.”
The party at tea was probably composed of the Tounder, Mrd Ellioil, Miss
Tomkinson, the Lady Superiniendent and Mary Bryan, the first pupil, Two
other pupils were entered on that first day, Jane Cory and her sister
Charlolte but we don't know whether they had tea or not!

This all sounds very pleasant but pause for 2 moment to consider what life
wad like in those days. How did Mary Bryan get lo the school? We know
thal her home was a village neas Chepstow and can assume that she came by
coach via London, There were no trains of course but we know, for Instance,
that there were 34 coaches daily between London and Brighton. The jourmey
took 6 hours and cost 15 (75p); this was 50% more than the average
agricultural worker's weekly wage!

By now there was a good countrywide network of metalled roads - the
turnpike roads: thousands of horses were needed to serve the London to
Brighton route along, When at last they reached Brighton they would hire
a My {a small horse drawn carelage) Lo take them to the school. [kis recorded
that some arrived by sea, disembarking over the beach or at the Chain Pler.

It was August when the school opened and the evenings were long but there
was no electricity and no gas. The only light was from lamps or candles and
neediess to say there was no hot water in the dormitories nor any heatlng
apart from & few open fires in some moms, The school did have its own
drainage system in the form of one or more cess pils, the emplying of which
ene undersiands was somewhat haphazard - the main sewer in Trighton was
nol constructed until 1371 - &,

The houses of the very rich contalned a [ew water closets but there would not
have been any in the school. We do not know what the arrangements were
for getting rid of the day and night soil to the cess pits; there were probably
a few sluice points in the School but - whatever the procedure was, it could
not have been very pleasant or hyglenic.

Freventive medicine had made little progress and as a resull disease was rife.
One in flve of the population was destined lo contract tuberculosis and
people regularly died of commen diseases such as scarlet fever, whooping
cough, cholera and typhoid - vaccination against small-pox was only just

being generally introduced although Jenner had made his breakthrough in
1796,

In many hospital and charity schools children slept two to a bed, to save
space and for warmth, bul as far as is known each girl in 5t Mary's Hall had
her own bed righl lrom the beglaning though they must have been very
much crowded togelher at times, The schoaol was built for 100 glrls and this
remained the maximum complemont until the end of the Great War 1914 - 1.

The aim of the school was to prepare the daughters of the Poor Clergy as
Governesses. Mr Flliott had some misgiving about Brighton as a suitsble
place for his school but considered this was outweighed by it bring a better

place than Cowan Bridge for procuring donallons and subscriptions and he
#lso reasoned that:

"1 It was a healthy place with good air and sea bathing.

2 The best masters (sic) were available on easy terms and
therefore a  higher style of educatlon and
accomplishments,

3 It was within e2sy reach of religious instruction and

4 Brighton being = soclal centre this could help the young
governesses to obtain employment when the tlme
came,

Mr Elliott could not prrhaps foresee the extent Lo which, with the coming of
the railways in the 1840°s, Brighton would develop as a communications
centre an the south coast. This became very impartant as the years went by
and remains so loday, but the school's situation led to its closure in 1940, 1
very nearly remained closed for good and 21, for 2 varlely of reasons which
will be given in a later chapter but luckily, as has always happened in our
hislory, there were some people who would not give in and the Phoenix
arose [rom the ashes or, perhaps ane should say, from requisitioning by the
War Department.



Chapter 2 - The Founder and the Elliott Family

Heney Venn Elilott was the eldest son of the second marrisge of his father,
Charles Elliolt, to Eling, daughter af the Reverend Henry Venn.

The Family home was then Grove House in Clapham and Charles Elliott was
one of England’s leading fueniture makers, being Included in 1803 in
Sheraton’s list of Master Cabinet Makers. When he died in 1832 he left &
fortune of nearly half a million pounds, having started from nothing.

The Elliotls belonged to what was known as the Clapham Sect and Charles
Elliott was on the committee of the Church Missionary Society and its
chalrman from 18D - 1810,

By 1820 the family was, however, living mainly in [ashionable Brighton in a
house called Westleld Lodge which occupied the site on which the
Metropole Hotel now stands, They were living here temporarily while their
own house, Ne 27 Brunswick Square, was belnp bullt. After his marriage,
the founder also bought a house in Brunswick Square, No 15.

Henry Venn, who was born on 17th January 1792, was sent to school under
a2 Mr Elwell of Hammersmith, It ls recorded that the institution was
intensely rellgious and also harsh and forbidding. His biographer fell that
‘Henry Elliott had seen religion on (ig other side’ but fortunately he seems
o have had the character to have risen above this experlence and indoed
benefited from it, When he was 17 he was senl to the Reverend Jowett at
Little Dunaham, Morfolk, where he enjoyed himself, working hard and
guining entry & Trinity, Cambridge in October 1810.

At Cambeldge he continued to do well and gained a Trinity Scholarship. He
disliked Mathematics, however, and even atone time thought of transferring
o Oxford! Whilst at Unlversity he used to teach in Sunday scheols in the
area, making a life time friend of John Babingten. In 1816 he was elected 2
Fellsw of Trinily but admits that he had then lost his vocation for Holy
Orders, considering himself unwarthy.

1 July 1817, Henry Elliott embarked on foreign Lravels and these were to last
until his return to England in August 1820, He visiled France, Tlaly, Greece,
Turkey and the Holy Land - his experiences are described in detall by his
biographer but it does seem [rom his own letters and from other sources, that
he had the gift of getting on well with all sorts of people, no matter what
their standing or religious background, He seemed particularly taken with
the monks of St Bernard and their "clever, [dendly dogs™ who “received no
small share of caresies.”

He returned to Cambridge and afler visiting his brother Edward, who had
already become 2 curale, his vocation returned and he was ordained Deacon
on Ind November 1823 by the Bishop of Ely, He spent two unhappy and
unrewarding years as a curate himself before returning to Cambridge yet
again.

His family had by this time moved to Brighton and in 1826 Charles Eilioll
financed the building of St Mary's in St James Street (now Rock Gardens) for
his son. The church was finally completed and consecrated on 18th January
1827, Here Henry Venn Elliolt remained as Vicar for thirty years, the rest of
hia life.

Hensy Venn Elliott, was and always had been, a staunch evangelical. It is
therefore extremely surprising to learn that the Reverend ] H Newman (later
Cardinal Mewman) preached twice in 51 Mary’s in 1829 as did Professor
Pusey, leader of the Oxford Movement, in the 1830s. He remained friends
with Pusey for the rest of his life but underslandably did not maintain
cantact with Newman for, like many of his generation, he mistrusted and
feared the [nlentions of ‘the Romans', as once indeed had Newman himself.

On 31st October 1833, he married Julia Marshall of Ulleswater and they had
flve children, Henry Venn, Charles Alfred, Bfie, Blanche and Julius,

All this time the planning and fund raising for St Mary’s Hall was going on
and in 1834 the foundation stone was laid. Writing of this occasion his
biographer refers to the school as  ‘an establishment which became
henceforth one great object of his life’.
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In Septernber 1840 he reveals a conversation with a parishioner which throws
an interesting light on his character. He was agked ‘what is the precise
difference between you and Dr Pusey? Taken off hand, he replied: “Dr
Pusey would get his religion [rom the church and [ mine from the Bible." He
records that he told Pusey of this and that Pusey 'did not dispute the
fairness of 1"

Julia Elliott died in November 1841, of scarlet fever, shortly afler giving birth
to Julius, Among the many letters of sympathy was a Jong leter from Dr
Pusey signed “your very faithful frend.’ To add to Mr Elliott’s grief his son
Harry (Henry Venn) was killed in an accidental fall In May 1848,

Since the opening in 1836, Mr Elliolt had been devoting a great deal of time
and energy to the school and this is enlarged wpon in a later chapter. In
1849, however, 5t Mark’s was consecrated and he says: 'this was a great day
in my life on which the Lord granted me 1o see the top stoae thus pul to St
Mary’s Hall." The carcase of the church had been given by Lord Bristol but
there were many difficulties with the Church Commissioners during its
construction and large sums of money were undoubtedly found by Me Elliott
to help pay for it all, Lord Bristal wished him to come 1o 51 Mark's but he
declined, foeling it his duty to remain at 5t Mary's.

The 1850s show him stll working hard al Lhe school; in 1852 he wrote 35
letters alter Interviews of prospeclive pupils and admitted that he was ‘pen-
weary” afterwards. In 1837 also he set the Divinity Exam Papems for the
school - 3% sets! The first Remington typewriters were not placed on the
market until 1874 so one can imagine the amount of work involved.

Tn 1860 he describes himself as in good health but two years later he was
suffering from overwork and had further health problems in 1863, He last
visited St Mary's Hall on 3rd January 1855 and dled on the 24th January,

His blography was written In 1866 and the Victorans tended to euloglze
rather than criticise in any way . There is no doubting thal Henry Elliott was
astrong character and indeed he ran St Mary's Hall practically single-handed
from 1836 until his death, 28 yesrs later. There were other Trustees but

apparently they didn’t do anylhing very much and they didn't have any
formal meetings.

Tt is, however, quite easy to vead between the lines of all the available
records, He comes across strongly as a very kind and wlorant man time and
time again; he made friends and kept them even if ke and they had different
viewi.

It Is sald that the children were sometimes naughty on purpose, hoping to
allzact Mr Elliott's sttention and to have a word with him. He often had
several pupils to tea with him at his house in Drunswick Square. Afler tes
he would devole himself to their amusement, playing games wilh the
younger anes, reading to the elder ones, and “showing his curiosities and
picrtares, ™

Clearly he had enormous energy and worked very hard, perhaps too hard;
he knew that he did and criticised himself for it towards the end of his life,

He began 2 tradition of service by the Elliott family to St Mary's Hall a5
Trugtees and Governors. A list of this service is given below and very
impressive it is. Mr C E.M. Elliott, the grandson of the founder, became &
Governor before the 1939 - 1945 war, escaped wounded from Dunkirk and
then contributed largely to the re-opening of the school, eventually serving
for many years as Chalrman of Governors. His eldest son, Mr Anthany C.
R. Elliott became a Governor in 1967 and is today Chairman of the Board.

- Ty’
Reverend H. V. Elllott 1836 - 1863
Revercnd E.B. Elliott 1636 - 1874

Sir Charles A, Flliott K.C.5.1. 1895 - 1919

Reverend H.V. Elliolt 1911 - 1922
Mrs H.V. Elliott 1913 - 1920
Colonel A.C. Elliokt 1524 - 1952
Mr C.E.M. Elliott 1937 - 197%
Mrs R, V. Broadley 1950 - 1982
Sir Claude Elliott 1958 - 1964
Mre R. D. Broadley 1964 - 1988
Mr A. C_ R, Elliott 1967 = Dale
Mr Tiﬂlmhy Elliokt 1979 - Dale



Chapter 3 - A Limited Education 1836 - 1884

For nearly 50 years the educatlon given at 5t Mary’s Hall was indeed limited,
The aim was to prepare young ladies for careers 35 Governesses and this
required only a limiled curriculum for they were going to teach other young
women, In 1841, for fees of £20 a year, the girls were mught ‘the usual
branches of English and Freach education.’ Musle was £3 a year extra and
drawing £4. Needless to say Divinity also featured laegely in the curriculum,

Unifo:l'm was provided by the school and included Frocks, Tippels (capes for
covering the shoulders), Cloaks, Shawls and Bonnets, Fach child hed to
bring with her a Bible and a Prayer Book and:

A new umbrella

Work Bag and sewing implements
Combs, brushes and gloves

& Dy Shifts

4 Night Shifts

3 Night Caps

2 Flannel Petticoats

3 White upper ditto

1 Seuff Petticoat

2 Pockets

8 lMocket Handkerchiefs

A Pairs White Colton Stackings

4 Pairs of Lamb’s Wool Stockings
4 Brown Holland Pinafores

2 Short Coloured Dressing Gowns
1 Flannel ditto

2 Pairs Shoes

1 Palr Thick Shoes or Boots

A Bilver Dessert Spoon, Teaspoon and Fork, which will be returned

We know little of Miss Tomkinson, the first Ledy Superintendent, though
she served the school for 21 years and one can only assume that Mr Eliiott

would not have tolerated anyone incompetent or unsatisfactory in any way -

and certainly not for this length of time, He in fact ren the school himself
for in the Spring of 1835 he had been authorised by the other Trustees “to be
responsible for the setting up and running of the school.”

By the 1st June 1837 the school had 35 children, & Lady Superintendent, 5
other Governesses, 6 Maids and a Gardener and his wile in the lodge. 1838
saw 50 children and the next year there were 60. Numbers grew steadily
wntil in 1842 the school had its full complement of 100 children despite 2 girls
having been seat home for non-payment of fees!

The year 1838 saw Lhe first examinations conducted by the founderand some
of his friends. We are lold the experience came as a bit of 2 shock to some
of the [nmates. The human side of Mr Elliott also became apparenl [of the
firsl record of an audit showed that he had failed 1o produce vouchers for
£1.105.11d for Medicine and £10.7s.11d for Stationery!

The school was free of debd In 1840 but it is recorded that difficulty was being
experienced in collecting fees. The Trustees agreed that girls should be
expelled il thelr fees were more than 3 months in arrears.

With numbers at the full complement of 100 it was found that space was at
& premium and in 1843 the N.E. Wing of the Hall was built at a cost of
£1000. The Founder was also prockeimed as Seeretary and Treasurer - it s
diffcult to understand why a proclamation was then thought Lo be necessary
o8 he had been acting as Secretary and Treasurer from the beginning!

The school had Its first Royal Visitor in 1848 (H.R.H, The Duchess of
Gloucester) and ln 1849 51 Mark's Church was consecrated. In the report
dated 1st August 1849, there is o reaffirmation of the school's Evangelical
position and a condemmation of the Tractarians. The school currculum
remained the same, however, and enough charitable donations were still
being received to allow the school o maintain a satishactory financial position
although there were no reserves for a miny day or for further development.

Until 1850 there had only been one annual school holiday from 15t June - 1st
August. Improved and cheaper travel, thanks to the new milway systems,
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now saw the introductlon of a Christmas Holiday of 3 weeks which was,
hawever, optional, The school had to remain open for children whose homes
were abroad or in Ireland for whom travel remained difficult and expensive.

The school was visited in 1852 by Mr Herbert Minton, He had had a good
report of the school and apparently liked what he saw, for he donated B34
pieces of his Stalfordshire China with a 'pretty motlve (sic) of 51 Mary’s Hall
on every piece.” I s a great pity that, to the best of my knowledge, not &
single piece remains.

There were now some quick changes of Lady Superintendent, Mlss
Tomkinson having resigned in 1857. However, as a sultable successor could
not be found, she had to slay on until 1859 when Mrs Mills toak over for 3
years. It had always been appreclated that, for family reasons, hers would
be & short stay and 2 Miss Wood took over in January 1862 but found that her
health and general constitution did not it her for the podt - one suspects that
she was unsatisfactory and that she was asked Lo leave. This she did later in
the year when Miss Newport, already a Governess on the staff, took aver.

When the Founder dled in 1865 the Trustees had their {irst meeling since
1843. They recorded that Mr Elliott acted 'as the spiriiual Father, Pastor of
the Inmates and almost the sole administrator of its affairs.”

Arrangements were then made for the school to be run in the future by the
Trustees as a body.

A gas supply was laid on to the school In 1866 but anly 1o the front door “on
agcount of the danger to carrlages passing to and fro in dark stormy
evenings, such as occurred at one of our musical solrees last winter.” The
first montion of payment for gas in the accounts is for the year 1848/49 when
£45.9.11 was expended on Gas, Candles and Odl. By 1884, when this
Chapter ends, Gas and Candles cost £76.3.8 and it can be assumed therefors
that a gradual programme of installation of gas lighting was being carried
oul, although one cannot find any reference to the work apart from the
supply (o the front door mentioned above, We do kaow that the school was
kit by gas for many years and the old pipes and fittings can still be seen in
many parts of the older buildings.

In the 3ith year the North West wing of the school was built and hot and
cold waler was laid on to the dormitorles on the upper floors, This yeas was
also noleworthy as the 5. M H_ Adsocistlon was founded - more will be said
aboul this organivation and ils contribution to the school in o later chapier,

At long last in 1871 the schoal was connected to the Town Sewers, though
work on the Insiallation of the town's impresslve sewerage system was naot
completed until 1874, Surprisingly the old cess pits were not filled in and in
1926 the covers of one of the pits (ell in - only then was this potentially
dangerous pit finzlly sealed off,

The school must, @l about this time, have become aware of the advences
being made elsewhere in the education of young women, The first public
schools for girls were being established and although they were no direct
challenge to a school such as 51 Mary’s Hall, they did set standards which
others began to follow. Accordingly in June 1872 the first examinations for
the school were set by a sendor fellow of Clare College, Cambridge and & few
years later the Eiﬂs of 5t Mary's Hall were taking the local public
examinations of the Cambridge Syndicate.

The Schonl acquitted liself reasonably well in these public examinations but
little had in fact changed academically from the early days. Il was till “the
usual branches of English and French’ with Mudic, Drawing and German as
extras. One hardly needs to add that much time was still devoted to Divinity
with excellent examination results but some Trugtees were already beginning
to suspect that too much Lime was being spent in learning this syllabus by
heart and indeed the matter was shortly to be addressed.

School fees had gone up from £20 to £21 & year; Music was £5 a year extra
and other extra subjects £4. There was a long wailing list of girls seeking
admission to the school but there was still a limit of 100 on the number of
places available, Income fram donatlons was still coming in satisfactorlly,
the books were being balanced year 1o year but at this siage no thought was
apparently being given to the {urther expansion or developmenl of the
school, apart from the academic side mentioned above.



The year 1877 saw the first of many difficulties over the School’s cight o free
sittings in St Mark’s. The Secretary, the Reverend John Babington, produced
a clear and convincing leafiet giving the facts of the matter and this served
Lo satisfy the Vicar of St Mark's and his Council for the time being.

The years 1881 - 1883 were extremely important for St Mary's Hall, Apart
from the decision to abulish school uniform (which was still provided by the
Schoal) and the resullant reduction of the annual fee from £21 o £4, the
Trustees now made a stalement of policy for the future, An Improvement in
the academic standards was to be sought in view of the ‘great advance in the
estimate of what is essential 1o the due education of women,*

At this lime the Chairman of the Trustees was the Earl of Chichester. He had
helped with the foundation of the school as one of the original Trustees and
was to continue serving as Chairman unill 1895 - 2 truly remarkable record
of sérvice. He was asked Lo be Chairman of a Commlltee to inquire into the
academic and administrative organisation of the scheol and produced a clear
and constructive report which was to form the basis for the future.

Unlil this time the Lady Superintendent was largely concerned with the
logistics of running the School and this aspect of her duties had tended to
evershadow that of the academic. In future It was decided to have a Malron
to take over the housekeeping side of Lhe business. Governesses were in
future to be certificated and were 1o specialise in teaching a pasticular subject
instead of endeavouring to trach all subjects.

Many other sensible changes were also introduced bul the comments
concerning the teaching of Divinily are of particular interest:

"We consider that the long repetilions of portions of Scripture etc by
heart, previous to the examinatlon, should be discontinped.”

*. . . the amount of religious exercises on Sundays, including the
altendance ot Church - always twice and sometimes three Hmes - is
full long and likely to be wearisome to the weaker children . . ¥

= . . doubts have occurred to us as o the desirableness of making
the younger children learn by heart the 39 Articles.”

The girls were given an exira half an hour in bed on a Sunday morning and
henceforward the strict and time consuming emphasis on Divinity was
reduced to some extent,

It became clear from the Trustees” Minutes that Miss Newport would have
difficulty in adapting to the new regime, Her paperon the duties of the new
Matron did not meet with the approval of the Trustees and Lhen she
inedvertently saw some letters addressed to Lord Chichester which were
esltical of her and she felt obliged 1o tender her resignation. She was
persuaded to withdraw this but the die was cast and on the 4th Aprl 1383,
the Trustees came to the conclusion that Miss Newport must be replaced t_:y
*3 lady who will take an active part in the tuition of the School.” Later in
the year the Secretary informed Miss Newport that she would be replaced in
July 1884,

Miss Newport had served the School for 22 years bul it seems that she was
not the suitable person to introduce the changes that had to take place. She
was much loved by everyone and every night used to kiss all the glﬂ_s
goodnight! It seems sad that her time &l the School should have ended as it
did and it would seem that the Trustees were most unhappy ever what had
to be done for she was given a gratulty of £500 when she left - 2

considerable sum of money in thoss days,
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Chapter 4 - Years of Progress 1884 - 1918

Miss Christina Macdowall Birrell was born on the 16th November 1849, 50 she
was M years of ege when she was appointed Lady Principz] of St Mary’s Hall
on 15th July 1884, Born in Glasgow, sho was educated at 2 boardiag school
In Edinburgh and elsewhere, specialising in English Literature, French,
German and Latin. She was one of the first 1o pass the Cambridge Higher
Luezl Exam and subsequently obtained the Cambridge Teachers Treining
Certificate.

Her advent must have been quite a shock for St Mary's Hall and this is well
recorded by one of her former pupils who wrote as follows after her death in
1906.
“None of Miss Blerell’s many friends can pwe more to her than we,
her "Old Girls’. Looking back upon the old days at St Mary's Hall,
ane realises how greatly her strong personality attracted and
moulded the characters of all who came in contact with her.
“How her high ideals and her keen sense of honour and duty won
our respect and admiration! How the Indomitable energy and
steadfastness of purpese, which enabled her to overcome great
difficulties, inslilled into us the serdousness and necessity of hard
work! And above all how her faithfulness as a friend won our
lasting love!
“She was strict bult just, she was strong but humble, reserved and
slow in showing her feelings, but conglant and true.
“When she came to St Mary's Hall in 1884, she 201 W0 work with her
usual determination lo reise the school morally and intellectually.
“I came back late that term and missed her first drastic methods of
“licking into shape.” I remember when 1 did return in November 1
was horrified to fnd that we might no longer lounge zbout the
school three or four abreast, with arms affectionately twined round
each other; thatl we mighl no longer keep our private stores of cakes
and jams to send round o our speclal friends al meals; there were
strict rules about lalking, about order, about manners.
“We fought hard against the new regime and madu il as difficull for
her as we could. Bul she gradually got the better of 124 and taught

us ko admire and respect her, and by degrees she inspired us wilth
her own ideals of honour, of wark, of life. How she made us work!
Tcan never be grateful enough to her for that; it was a splendid
experlence and tralning. And what eyes she had! She saw
everything, knew everything: il was an education to sccompany hee
an her rounds of inspection, not a speck of dust. not an ink spat noe
a crooked bed-cover escaped her. There were many changes, many
improvements. She transformed the school and ralsed It o the high
level it now holds; she taught us Lo be proud of our school, o be
keen to hold pur own in examinations, in tennis, in hockey.

“She increased our Library and taught us to use it, Her enthuslasm
aboul books was infectinus,

“Perhaps we felt her influgnge even more when we left. She wrote
to us frequently. I hawe often wondered how in the midst of her
pressing work she could remember us and keep up with us as she
did. We shall always think of her as the strang, genuine, loving
friend who inspired and influenced us while we were her pupils at
school, who inspired and influenced us when we went out into the
world, and who will continue to inspire and influence us bl the end
of our lives.”

A year after Mizs Birrell's arrival and what sounds like a splendid shake-up,
the new Sanstorium was opened. This fine building, now the Al Block, cost
£2025 complete with furnishings. The new Sanatorium must have been very
welcome indeed but this year is perhaps more notable for the first record of
Science being taught in 5t Mary’'s Hall, Botany and a beginning to Physics
having been Introduced into the curdculum. The nest year Chemistry was
also included in the curriculum,

In 1890 the number of girls in the school was still 100 bt there was no longer
any gvercrawding in the dormitories as extensive improvements had been
made, the chiel of which way the raising of the roof of the N.W. wing.

1892 seems to have been an eventful year. ln January there was “a terrible
oulrage and murder’ in the hut in the South Field (where the new houses
now stand). Local residents petitioned the Trustees 1o have the hut pulled



down, the Trustees had no objection and the lenant of the field agreed 1o do
the work himself. The original pelition is in the school archives.

Miss Birrell also succeeded in introdueing a 3 term year but only afler lang
discusyion and conwultalion with parents, This reluctance to 2gree Lo & three-
term-year is perhaps explained by the large numbers of pupils from dioceses
overseas, Miss Meades gives the following figures for 1885

Abyssinia 1 India ]
Adrica 11 Jamaica 6
Australia 5 Jerusalem 3
Basle 1 Nassau I
Caleutta 2 Antigua 2
Ceylon 10 Natal 1
China 3 North America 4
Demerars 5 Prussia 1
France i Smyrna + Syria 3
Hamburg 3 Rupertsland 1

106

Omne suspects that there was some duplication here as Lhe school still saly
had 100 pupils at this time! It is nevertheless clear, that parents of the
majority of the school’s puplls were serving overseas and for many the extra
holiday would have presented practical difficultles.

On a lighter note, one girl requesled instruction in playing the Zither bul the
Truslees, lacking a sense of humour perhaps, thought that "the plano and
vinlin were enough.’

In October 1804, the Flliott wing was completed and officlally opened by
H.R.H the Princess Christian of Schleswig-Holstein the following year. The
wing was originally known as the Princess Christian Annexe, the Princess
being the school's Patroness at the time. Sl Charles Ellioit had provided
part of the cost of the building and at some Llme the name was changed to

the Elliott wing. This was perhops during the fiest world war when even
dachehunds had 1o be hidden away and only exercised after dark!

Poor Miss Birrell became very tired theough overwork and on doclor’s ordecs
had to take it easy. Resldid not help, however, and bravely she came to the
eonclusion that she had "burnt her ships” (sic) and that it was time for her to
hand over to someone else, She never meally recovered her health after
leaving 5t Mary’s Hall and died at the sarly age of 57.

St Mary's Hall owes a great deal to Mias Birrell. She transformed the school,
warking well with the Trustees o leave for her successar, afler 15 years of
hard work, & senall school of excellent quality and reputation. There were
still. however, anly 100 girls in the school and the fees remained very low at
£24,15.0 & year in the senior school, Donations and annual subscriptions
were still coming in regularly and any large building project, such a5 the
ElHott Wing, was paid for promptly on appeal. At this stage there seemed
1o be no good reason for change and so Miss Edith Potter, Vice Mistress
under Miss Birrell tnak over as Lady Principal in 1859,

The Boer War had broken out in October 1653 and Mafeking in Cape Province
was immediately besieged. Eventually on 17th May 1900, Maleking was
melieved and Mafeking Night was on the 18th May, At 10 pm the girls
assembled in dressing gowns and slippers to celebrate by singing the
National Anthem and "other triumphant sieains.’ The next day saw the Hall
decorated with Alags and the granting of a holiday by the Trustees.

Further difficulties arose in 1902 over S5t Mark's, Misunderstanding by
parishioners aver the free siltings allowed to the school, led 1o unfortunate
and inasccurate statements im the Parish Magazine and once again the schoal's
position had to be defended by the Trustees.

The teaching of Science had been introduced by Miss Birrell in 1885 and the
proper waching of these subjects pave rlse Lo an urgent need for a sclence
laboratory. At the same tlme the Trustees appreciated the need for an
Assembly Hall and Gymnasium and following their usual practice they issued
an appeal for funds for these two projects in April 1903. The Science

Tha Cricked Team 1903



Laboratory (now the Home Economics Room) wis completed in the same year
at s cost of £213; Il was equipped and in use In 1904,

Miss Birrell was also responsible for the introduction of a Sixth Form as we
know it today, the first mention of the form being In 1885, By 1890 girls
were taking the Oxford or Cambridge Higher School Cestificates with the
Slxth Form divided into VI A and VI B. VI A took the Matriculation
Examination whilst ¥1 B took the Higher School Certificate. This division of
the Sixth Form only lasted a few years and had been dropped by the end of
the century.

This was agaln & time of (lnancial worries. Fees had Lo be increased from
£25.165.0d & year to B30 for senior pupils in 1907 and day gics, the
daughters of local clergymen, were accepled for the firs| lime the next year;
a sub-committee was also sel Up to analyze the various headings of schoul
expenditure. The committes concluded that in general the school was being
run ecanemically and noted that the food costs were high but not excessive.
It then cost five shillings 2nd eight pence three farthings 2 week Lo feed o giel
boarder i.e. less than 30 pence!

Sir Charles Elliott, son of the Founder, died at Holy Communlon an 28th
May 1911. In his generosity he had funded the building of the New Hall
himself and when he died was planning the completion of the complex, with
the addition of the Music Rooms, the Art Room and the closk moms, The
bullding was practically finished when he died and occupied the northern
part of the present Hall where the old Clolsters wsed to be. The whole
project was indeed completed the fullowing year thanks to an interest free
lnan of £600 by an anonymous benefactor, Going northwards the lay-out
was now as follows:

The EHiott Wing, the Art Room, the Hall.

The gld Music Rooms were as they now are,

This year was also & milestone in that, afier the school underwent 3 Board of
Education inspection on 24th, 25th and 26th May, 5t Mary's Hall was placed
on the list of schools recognised as efficient, This was a tribule to the Head

Mistress, a8 ghe was now known, but unfertunately Miss Potter’s health now
et her down and she was forced to resign her position. Miss Potter
contributed 2 greal deal Lo the success of the school, building successfully on
Misa Birrell's work, She was also lugely responsible for the launching of the
St Mary's Hall Association and its early development.

The Trustees appointed as the new Headmistress, Misa F.L Ghey, Hon. Mods
{Claszice) Oxford, M.A, London. She had been Assistant Lecturer at the
Royal Holloway College and Classical Mistress at the Clapham High School.

Bor many years there had been a demand for places al 5L Mary’s Hall which
could not be met as there was only room for 100 girls. However, before the
outbredk of the Great War il was decided to purchase two additional houses
tn Hervey Terrace (where Elliott House now stands) and this provided
accommodation for 20 additional boarders and 3 Mistresses. For the first
time therefore numbers in the schoal exceeded 100 there being 123 boarders
in the school in 1914, The Trustees did nol consider that Brighlon was at risk
from raids by Ses or air and parents seem to have sgreed for no-one was
withdrawn, The 7th Report stales:
“Within the limits of the School buildings the lessons of the war have
teen camefully brought home to the children and they have been
encouraged to take thelr part in the national mobilisation for works of
eharity and self-denial.~

There is thereafter very litthe divect reference to the war aparl from the
resultant increases in the cost of everything, which had a serious effect on
the school’s finances, There is no doubt, howewver, thal everyone was fully
aware of what was going on and we know from the recollection of ald glrls,
that the girls were briefed dally on news of the war. Many connected with
St Mary's Hall must have been personally affected as was ene of the
Trustees, the Reverend C. E. Gaussen, who gave £100 of war slock in
memory of his son, David, who died irom wounds received al Delville Wood
in 1917,

Al long last came the Armistice marked by the National Anthem and a Hymn
in the Elliott Hall fellowed by a Thanksgiving Service in St Mark's and on
Dird November Miss Ghey led a party from the school which attended the



Peace Uolebrstions in Londor. With the Pesce Uhe Trustees burst lato a
flurry ol sctivity which led to Lise further expaasion and development of the
school dencribed In ahe next Chapler

Al Use end of this pericd of progress Lie finances of lne schoal wese again
Riving cayse for conceln snd a devision was made, wich greal melociance, o
Increase fees from K36 w £99.3,0 with eifect from the nowt schaul Fesl
First thoughts were 3lso given to opeming the school to glils other Thas ihe
daughters of clergymen

The Trustees alsa became aware of Use Temion arrangemenis keing made lar
Trachers In the State wystem and applied fus the schngl Lu be "recognised [ur
Feachery’ Penslons under the Superannastion Actut 1914 Susprimngly this
tensibley decision was taken with some misgiving but furtunately jor the

furure well-being of Lhe schoal the Acued of Edwi lion sareed our apyphicatlan

in 1920,

Chapter 5 - Expansion and Consolidation I918 - 1940

As kong 3go 35 June 1214, the Trustees had (aken a decision in prinaiple to
setup 4 Jurdor Scheal and thls of course made g sense wher the perallel
declgion tw upen Lhe sehiul o Biﬂ: other than clarpy dgushteu was laken,
This decisien w brosden the intake was not taken lightly, but the Trustees
appreciated correctly that there was no longet the wealll in the comnzry for
the schioal ko be able lo contiiue w rely on large gum3 of gmoney caming in
from charilable donalicns and subscriptions. They probebly alss realissd,
thaugh this is not supported by the records, that @ school of junt over 100
prplls was very expensive to run i aay ¢ése and probebly not visble a8 &
malaly charitable foundatlon.

Accordingly in 1920, No 2 Sussex Square was prrchased aad was npened as
St Hilary Heuse, In the dollowing year No 22 Sussex Squers was zbso
purehated and opened as the Juniae Schaol, 5t Nizkolas House, {Hoarders
an young ad seven had been sdmiteed for some yearsin 1330, The recocds du
not indicate the age range of the Junier Schagl in $t Nicholas.) Two further
houses in Hervey Terrace (or Easlern Road), Mus 228 and 233, were also
purchased for use as addllonsl classmooems. Ay may be imagined (hese
develnpments were gxpenpive and the cost was met by the [ssue of
debentures, the school havlng been reglelered as & Company Dimited by
Guarsntee in 1421,

To help the school flnences the Ladies' Committes had the idea af runaing
2 piggery in the echool grounds, but the Heed Senitery Inspector wrote
saying that pipperies were nol allowed i Brightan. Semeone then suggesled
that gnats could perhaps be kepl inslead and the Headmistress was asked o
investlgate. Not long aflerwards the maller wes “adjuarned sine die” and
AeVer falsed again.

The decision to expand che szhoal was being justified end be 1928 No 11
Sussex Square wes puschased snd adapted for uss as additional toarding
presuises for Lhe younpgergicls, Numbers had boilt up well and by 1928 (here
were 00 girls in the school
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I Foundationers
62 Non Foundationers
34 Day Girls

Electrie light was installed in part of the main bullding in 1928 and wor,
continued thereafler to extend the installation to the rest of the schogl. |}
was also decided ta install central heating in St Nicholas (21 Sussex Square,
and afterwards in the Sanatorium, along with electric light.

There was still a great demand far places and in 1930 No 4 Clarendon Terrace
was purchased and opencd as Hebbert House (Mr Hebbert had beer
Treasurer from 1878 - 1884 and a Trustee from 1684 - 1892 and this had been
his home}. The School was full with the exception of a few places for
bosrders in the Junior House; the following year there were 243 girls in the
school and No 4 Hecvey Terrace (233 Eastern Road) had to be taken over as
& Kindergarten and as addillonal accommodation for mistresses,

Games were reported to be “thoroughly good”. The cricket leam appesred
to be particularly formidable and a cricket bat, signed by the legendary Jack
Hobbs, was earned and presented to one Mary Luffman who had a bowling
analysis of 9 for 5!

The arbour In which Miss Charlote Elliott, the founders elder sister
composed many of her hymns had been erected in the school grounds some
time previously. it had originally been in the gardens of Westfield Lodge
and had presumably been moved 1o the school when the Elliott family moved
to Brungwick Square. A memorial was now erected in this arbour in Oclober
1930 but all that remains is the red liled hase by the North West Corner of
the single lennis court. It is not known what happened to the arbour - it is
understood that it was still there in the 19505 bul by the end of the decade
it was gone, No doubt it became irreparable because of its age and weoden
constroction,

Although this was the time of the Great Depression the mood of 5t Mary's
Hall was clearly buoyant, In 1331 all State School teachers had had their
salaries reduced by 10% in the national emergency, bul the Governors did
not impose a similar salary cut on the school stafll. The stafl instead

requested (he Governors to deduct 5% from thelr salaries for the Aulumn
Term and to devote the moiey so saved to help needy cases (n the School.
This offer was gratefully accepied by the Governors and I am sure that they
must have been greatly impressed and encouraged by this wonderful spirit.

In 1932 there were 24% girls in the School bul one very old girl sadly died.
Mrs Marlanne Baker reached the good age of 101 years; a5 Matianne Canlley
she had entered St Mary"s Hall as a baarder in 1842, being driven down with
her mother by coach from London to Brighton,

Hebbert House had not proved successful as 2 school boarding house - it was
stated to be ‘inconvenient and unsatisfactory.’ MNos 2 and 3 Chichester
Terrace were themefore acquired and adapied and became known as Babington
House. Hebbert House was closed and disposed of. Only School House, Lo
be known heneeforth as Henry Venn Elliott House, now remained,
accommodated in the main building, Partia] central hesting was also
Installed in the main building for the first time!

With the increased number of girls In the Schaol, more playing field space
was required and the lease of the Manor Road Playing Fields was taken over
from Brighton College In 1933 and the use of the West Field regained the
following year - it had previously been let to the Kemp Town Bowling Cluk
for bowls, archery and lennls. The School then had 16 grass lennis courts
available together with the cricket pitch on the South Field,

August 1936 saw the resignation of Miss Chey as Headmistress though she
had not finished with St Mary's Hall by any means! She was replaced by
Miss F.E. Stoplord. MA Owon., after the celebration of Lhe School's
Centenary al the end of the Summer Term, After the Pageant of One
Hundred Years, a puese conlalning & bicthday gift of £1848.10.0 was
presented (o the Bishop of London by Miss juy Orde, greal-greal-geand-
daughter of the Founder. The purse was lhe donations of friends and old
girls from all over the world for Lhe benefit of the School - the "gift* to the
Bishop was a formality and not for his personal benelit! This custom now
seems rather old-fashioned and w modern eyes and ears the pageant would
also be considered somewhat pedestrian and even boring: one person who
was present described it as “a lot of fun” whilst another thought &



“excruciating™ Af this less sophisticated time, however, pageants were a
common and accepted form of entertainmentand the costumes were certainly
of & very high standard - pageants were indeed the forerunners of the “son
et lumidre” of today! On this occasion the music was provided by a string
quartet,

Furth.en:hanarl took place in 1937, with Henry Venn Elliott or School House
moving to 21/22 Sussex Square and the Junior School moving to the main
bullding. The Henry Venn Elliott dormitory was converted to the library
very much as it Is today and a Domestic Science Department was eslablished
in 229 Eastern Road. It is also apparent from the records of this year that
further laboratories had already been set up in the main building, as there is
expenditure recorded on re-equipping laboratories for Chemistry, Botany,
Binkngy and Physics.

This was o be the last normal year for some time a4 1938 and 1939 saw the
beginning of the falling off in numbers and a Sub Committee being sel up Lo
consider Alr Raid precautions, Matlers became rapidly worse in 1940 with
Dunkirk and the fall of France and when a head count was taken [n June the
following picture emerged.

26 Boarders and 37 Day Giris  Definite for September
31 Boarders and 59 Day Girls  Doubtful
13 Boarders and 22 Day Girls Mot returning

The School could not continue with these numbers and it was decided 1o
clase for the duration of the war at the end of the Summer Term 19400 Miss
Stopiord ok over as Headmlsiress of 5t Elphin‘s, Darley Dale and our girls
were offered places al

St Catherines, Bramley

St Michaels, Bognor {which had moved to Penzance - now 51 Michaels,
Petworth)

Blatchington Court School, Seafoed (which had meved Lo Devon)

Why did not 5t Mary's Hall move from Brighlon lo some safe spot like so
many other schools ? Most Schools which were going to evacuate had

already done so and no doubt 5t Mary's Hall hoped that a move was not
going to be necessary, for moving the School would have been an expensive
and uncertain exercise. A major development had just been completed which
had exhausted the school's financial resources, never very strong because of
the narrow foundation, which was maintained right up wntil the 1914 - 1918
war, The decision to enlarge and develop the School cannot be said to have
been unduly delayed by the Trustees and 1940 saw us with a fine school,
viable in every way and one which would have gone on from strength to
strength. For once, however, our gecgraphical situation was not an
advantage and the closure was inevitable in the clrcumslances,

The Hall was taken over by the military and all the boarding houses were
also requisitioned by the War Department,

The Common Room [now the Classics Department Room G) became the
Strgtlntl‘ Mess, the officers ook over the Drawing Room and the Staff
Room became the office of the Commanding Officer. The contents of the
boarding houses had been sold, at auction or to other schools and much of
our other furniture and fittings was stored in the Hervey Terrace houses, 227
- 233 Eastern Road.

In July 1941 the Governors had declared thelr intention to reapen the Schoal
after the war, and the Bishop of Chichester had reiterated this intention to
a meeting of the St Mary’s Hall Associavion, held at about the same Hme at
Blunt House, Oxted, the esaching establishment of Miss Ghey, the former
Headmistress, and her colleague Miss Galton. Miss Galton had been on the
staff of 51 Mary's Hall when Miss Ghey was Head and had moved to Oxted
with her, Plans for the recpening were necessarily vague at (his stage but
the determination was clearly there.

Fate was to take a final hand in order to make the feqpening mane difficalt,
for on 25th May 1843 a bomb fell on Hervey Termace destroying the Lodge,
227 and 129 Eastern Road and badly damaging the Laborstory. This bomb
may have been a blessing in disguise in the long term, for the old houses
were quite unsuitable Lo form part of the School that was to arlse when peace
was finally restored,

Wissl af Primcais Mary, 1921




Chapter 6 - Phoenix 1946 - 1966

The 9th May 1945 saw the end of the war in Burope and immediately the
Governing Body and all the friends of the School began thinking aboul re-
opening. The Chairman of Governors at this tme was Lt Col A C Elliott,
CBE, but at this ¢rucial period he became ill and eventually moved his home
to Devon reslgning as Chairman and as & Governor In March 1946, The
Bishop of Chichester took over as Acling Chairman, but the driving force on
the Governlng Body was Mr C E M Elllowt, who was Chairman of the
Executive Committee,

The main difficulties were as usual financial - the practical difficulties of
bomb damage, repairs, redecoration, war damage claims ete otc could be
addressed, bul without flnanclal support lttle could be done towards re-
opening the School. There were shortages of everything in the country, but
for the School the maln items that needed to be acquired, when lhe
classrooms and boarding houses were ready for use again, were furniture and
books.

The main School building was not in fact handed back until March 1946,
although the officlal date for the de-requisition was 25th December 1345, At
the same time, with the de-requisitioning of the boarding houses by the War
Department, the Governors had to resist efforts by Brighton Corporation to
take them over for their own purposes.

Ta the onlooker progress lowards re-opening appeared to be slow. This was
certainly felt to be the case by the St Mary’s Hall Associatlon whose
President was Miss Ghey. She and Miss Galton at Blunt House, Oxted, their
coaching establishment, had kept the 5t Mary’s Hall Assoclation very much
allve during the war. Regular meetings and (und raising activities had been
held and now Miss Ghey and many other (riends of the School were
becoming impatient for action of some sort, Miss Ghey and Miss Galton
approached the Bishop of Chichester, as Acting Chairman of Governors, who
promised to enlist the help of the Diocese - Miss Ghey for her part promised
to begin an Appeal to the 5t Mary's Hall Association, The early response of

promises of £3000 encouraged the Governors Lo go shead with plans for the
re-opening and by the autumn the sum of £5000 had been raised by the
Appral. No help was forthcaming from the Diocese - nol surprisingly, they
Juse did not have the resources required.

The Governors were not sanguine at this time about the chances of bring able
to run St Mary’s Hall as a boarding school agein, but 25 most of the ES00¢
rafsed by old girls and friends was conditlonal on there being a boarding
school, this had to be kept as an option, although the first abjective was to
be the opening of & day scheel.

Miss Harriet Robinson had been appointed Headmistress in July, 1946 and
ook up her appointment on Ist Seplember. Other Staff had also been
appointed to enable Babington House (2 and 3 Chichestes Terrece) to re-open
as a Junior School in September. Miss Robinson wrole that the two ladies
concermed - Miss Borney and Miss Alexander - "were both hard at work,
many weeks before term began, sorting books, finding furniture, dusting,
polishing, chiveying workmen, inteviewing Charwomen, full of hope one
day, despondenl (he nexi, because of sume new =t back, but detecmined
that Babington should be ready for use by the end of September.”

In Aprdl, Mr Walter Dingwall, the former Headmaster of Hurstpierpoint
College and a one-time School Bursar, was employed to plan the re-opening
of the school under the general supervision of the Governing Body, and to
asslat with the whole business of war damage clalms, refurbishment,
furnishing, equipping and the hundred and one other matters thal needed
atwntion §o &8 1o enable the school to re-open smoothly. Miss Ghey had
now 2150 been appointed as a Governor and along with Miss Galton she took
2n active parl with Mr Dingwall In the great deal of hard wark that was
fé¢essary to put the plans for re-opening Inlo effect.

And 50 at the end of September 1946 a Junlor School re-opened in Babington
House. About twenty little gicls "white socked and wearing their new blue
overalls, filed up the stalrs, qulet as mice...” They had a sharl service and
got down to work, having received a telegram from Miss Ghey and Miss
Galton which read "Long life and happy days to 5t Mary's Hall reborn
today. "



The work of preparing the school continued and onee the way shead was
cleas, advertising took place to secure more pupils. A Thanksgiving Service
for the re-opening was held in St Mark's on 22nd February 1947 and there
were then already 19 Boarders and 41 Day Girls in the School. The next slage
Is described vividly in a Tetter fram Miss Robinson to members of the 5t
Mary's Hall:

Dear Members of the S.M H, A,

Time has passed so quickly since T wrote my first letter to you that
it is difficult to realise that it was twelve months ago, one whole
year, the first year of Lhe School’s new life, In this year the Sehoal
has grown from 20 pupils to over 170, Last November we had only
day-girls, We now have 60 boarders, and Babington is full. In
January we moved from Babington to the Elliott Wing of the Hall.
This term we are in the Hall ltself. 1 am writing thiz letter in the
Headmistress's Study over the [ront doar, the room you all know so
well, the room of which the Founder wrote in 1836, “The pretiy littie
mullion-windowed room over the entesnce.” The top floor of the
Hall is still under repair and no place is really completely finished.
To make the Hall fit for occupation, to get the workmen out, the
Furniture in, the classrooms arranged ready for lessons, the dining-
rooms and kilchen equipped to provide meals for bosrders, and a
mid-day meal for over 170, was all there was time for. Such things
as floor-staining and picture-hanging hawve had to be left till the
holidays.

On Friday, September 19th, we came into residence at the Hall, from
Babington; myself, Miss Willis (Secretary), Mra Cameron (Couk-
caterer) and Ethel Philipps (mald). Our first night here was a
memorable one. The escape of gas was so bad in our bedrooms that
we had to sleep in my studyl Then, very tired and dirty, we thought
how comforting a hot bath would be. To our dismay, though there
was plenty of hot water, there was not a single bath-plug in the
bullding. I had to go down to Babinglon to find one. In spite of
difficulties, however, It was really thrilling to be at last living at the

Hall;, and to be occupying rooms vibrsting and pulsing with
memories of by-gone days.

On looking back over the past year, my chiel feellng Is cne of deep
gratitude for ali the help that has been given, for loyal, hardworking
staff in the Schoal itself, In the kitchen, and in the garden. To these
devoted workers the School owes very much, Thea my thoughts
turn in sincere thankinlness, to all helpers outside the School, and
especially to Miss Ghey and Miss Galton, who have done more for
the School than I can at all adequately recount. Nothing has been
too much trouble for them, By frequent vislts, and telephone calls,
they have kept in touch with us. They have found out our most
urgent needs and have, as if by magic, satisiled them. am guite
sure that but for their Umely help, we should not have been able to
accept in such a shoet time as many boarders as we now have, Their
help has been really wonderful. In the first place there were the two
beautifully organised and most enjoyable Garden Feles al Blunt
House. In addition to these Miss Gallon has attended Furniture
Sales, and has managed to procure for us ln emergency from London
firms essential equipment for the dormilorles, without which we
should have been compelled to vefuse children wishing to enter, 1
feel sure that you would like to know how the Hall has benefited
from the proceeds of the Fetes, so, later on you will see a list. In
addition to all these, there are many personal gifts from Miss Ghey
and Miss Calton which include ten cream enamelied bedsteads,
twenty-four desks and chalrs. Do you wonder that words fail me o
express my gratitude?

And what of Lhe immediate future? We shall have reached the 200
mirk when School re-apens in Januvary, and we shall be using the
Sanatorium tomporarily as the House for junior boarders. Repairs to
Na 22 Sussex Square began last week. This House may be ready in
May, but in any case it will be ready in September. 1 say “ready”
hapefally, for we have quite come Lo the end of our stered school-
fomiture! Would anyone like to furnish a dormliory, or a staff bed-
sitting foom, to be called after herself, or perhaps in memary of
Someare? We have kept the old benefactors’ names et Babington,
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Snowdon-$mith, Mackworth-Young, Pelham, Dawson, etc. It would
be 4 fresh inspiration and interest to have some new hames, 2nd No
22 is such a Jovely house!

The hour is long past late, and is getting early, My predecessors in
this lovely litfle room whisper to me, that it is time to end this letter
and go to bed. 1 must just say how glad we have been when yuu
have visited the School, even though I myself may not have been
free to see you. It was & great joy lo have Miss Short (Daisy) with
us last week when she lalked to us of her work al Katni. The Indian
orphan, Muriel, has now been taken over by the School. We do
thank the S.M.H.A, for taking care of her while the School was
cloged. I will end with an extract from Mrs Goshawk's (Evelyn
Farrow) lelter, "It is almost unbelievable that you can have
accomplished all this since the School re-opened, and what T was so
struck by in particular is that you had kept the atmosphere of the old
while building anew. Ifelt I wanted to paint 2g2in in the Studio and
eat in the Thining Hall, and even suffer a Latin legson in one of the
sunny classrooms. The garden too looked so happy and cared for -
you must have a devoled ataff already,”

Hoping that you will all feel like this when vou wisit the Hall, and

with my sincere thanks to you all for your inspiring devotion to the
Hall,

I remain,
Yours very sincercly,

HARRIET ROBINSON.

Mr C E M Elliott had been elected chairman of Governars at the end of 1945
and the following year saw the move back into the Hall described by Miss
Rabinson above. The new arrangements of classrooms were roughly as we
know them now, with the new labarstories on the first floor. The important
decision was also made to sell No 2 Sussex Square and to build ERiott House
to aceommodate some B0 bosrders on the site of the bombed houses in
Hervey Terrace,
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Wark on Nos 21/22 Sussex Sguare had now been completed and the house
was re-opened as 5t Hilary in 1944, thus releasing the Sanatorium, which had
been pressed into wse as temporary boarding aecommodation - it proved
extremely popular to those who lived there. Miss Galton was largely
responalble for the furnishing of the refurbished 51 Hilary, procuring all the
furniture, curfains, bedspreads etc and at the same time still holding down
her awn duties 2t Blunt House; the School owes her 2 great debt.

By May 1949 there were 224 children in the School, 100 HBoarders and 128 Day
Girls and Kindergarten, and the following year all was ready to go ahead
with the construction of Elliott House. The contract price was Lo be £23618
and against this was put the proceeds of the sale of No 2 Sussex Square,
4550 and E130D0 received from the War Damage Commission. All went
well and by September 1951 the house was ready and pccupied by 22
Boarders,

Miss Robinson had worked extremely hard to get the school going agaln after
its closure and she now came ta the conclusion, whilst on holiday in Ttaly,
that Hke Miss Blrrell she had ‘buriied her boats.' She was feeling the strain
and the thought of the hard work still to come daunied her, She wrote that
'the next three or four years will require more vigour, mom energy, more
strength than 1 have to give,” She accordingly left St Mary's Hall in April
1950 to retire and Miss Dorls Conrady took over as Hoadmistreds,

Numbers continued 1o rise and 1952 saw 133 Boarders, 117 Day Glrls and 12
in the Kindergarten In the School. The old Science Laboratory had been
converted 10 use as a Domestic Sclence Foom and began to be used in
September.

Tt s interesting to note that there were some 23 Resident teaching staff in the
School at this time and that it was Lhe policy to appolnt resident staff rather
than staff who lived locally. The report by HM Inspectors in 1953 was nel
good, however, and they commented in patlicular on the poor qualifications
of the stalf, the lack of facilities in the School, particularly for boarders, and
mcommended the introduction of the House System.
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The Inspectors must have been aware thet the Schoal had anly re-opeasd in
1946/1947 and yet they expressed concern at the prepondarance of younger
children in the School! Tt is hard to see kow it could have been ntherwise bul
geneeally speaking the wporl was comslrucrive and the criticisms were
addeensed by the new Headmistress and Lhe Governlag Bady,

Ferhaps the most important upshot of this Inspection was the resuliing
review of fee palicy. The Sub-Commitiee sel up bo make propasals as & pesult
of the Inspection Repoit secommended that the time had come o abandon
thie low fee policy which had been followed by the Schosl since its
foundalfon. As a resolt automatic clergy bursasies were stopped and =
system of closed Gchalzrships adopled fur them instead. Sieps were alia
Leken 1o raise fees generally to 2 level thut would be e Tikcely ks wnsupe the
continuing viablllly of the Schoal.

The House System, recammended by the Lispectons, waaintrodused in 1957,
and s Commen RBoom provided in what vied o be known as the Lower Fast
Inner Ducmitory (Row Lhe General Science Laboratary and partof the Physiza
Laboratory) -another recommendation of the Inspectors.

Alotof hard work was golag an 1o continue impioving the Sehools lacilitics
and its pcademic standurds and when » fucther [nspection took plece in 1962
the lnzpector congratulated Lhe School on lix necovery, commenting thel ‘e
Hirst clasy staff had achleved wonders In Lhe pust four years.”

The Seheol continued o do well under Lhe guidance of a fist rlass
Headmistress, ils reputation siood high and excellent academic results wers
being achieved. Miss Convady rotirad at tha and of the 1965 echoal yoar wnd
Mliss M. O, Davies took ovar in September.

Wondess had indeed been achleved, bul the School slill kad poor facilities
compared with many of dts competitors and it was Ume to consider a
progeamme  of modernisation and development, Until mow the
adminigtration of the Schoul had been kept flrmly in the handa of the
Guwernors and their various Sub Committees with the Headnulstryss Jait te
g2t o wilth the academic side. Apart from the modernlsallon that was
required, the School was run down and the fabrle was much in need of

i he apal took

. To gel anything done by people who weps noten t
ol Hnde:nelmple defects like Lhe replacement ola Llap wluh:er
the holidays. This was frustraling in the extrene W Miss

loving :
a w]mg hme a
had to wait until

i nade and the
3 her Stafl but, not before lime, changes were ma
::t::::d:;niawamn and -iJh: buildings were maderaised, as we shall see in

the next Chapter.
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Chapter 7 - Modernisation 1965 - 1990

Miss Davies Inherited & successful and popular school from her predecessir
and, encouraged by the Governors, began to build up the numbers, Al this
time ¢ach year group consisled of two forms of not more than 24 girls in sach
form 23 a matter of policy. When the demand for places exceeded the
capacity in any one year, the practice of having “bulge years™ was
introduced with pari-time staff being engaged as necessary to cope with the
additional numbers. This was a flexible and proiilable way of operating and
thia practice was to continue for same years.

A Five-Year-Plan of Development had been devised and now began to be put
into effect. 1966 saw the creation of classrooms G, H and T as they now are
with & new passsgeway constructed over the outside yard, a project which
had been first mooted thirty years before. The pace was stepped up in 1965
with the following work completed.

a) Sanatorium moved lo new small Sanatorium in
Elliott House

b) Physics Laboratory rebuilt in its present form

¢) New Dining Hall and Kitchen ereated. (The old Dining Room was
where Room K and the Staff Sitting Room now are - Room L was the
Kitchen),

Enough boarding capacity existed in St Hilary and Ellioll and [t was thersfore
decided to sell Babington House (/3 Chichester Terrace). The house was
auetioned on the 15th June 1967; there was only one bidder in the auction
foom, who secured the property for £25.000, its reserve price! This was very

disappointing for the School - the houses should have fetched considerably
mare at the time.

The Bursar retired in 1968 after long service to the Schoal; her duties had
been mainly those of a School Accountant with very little responaibility or

authority for anything else. The new Bursar, who also carried out the duties
of Clerk to the Governors, was given definite administrative responsibilities
and was authorised to take on & book-keeper and 2 small maintenance stafl,
This arrangement made for much greater efficiency and the Headinlstress was
therenfter able to concentrale more on her proper dulies.

The old Elliott Hall had not been big enough to lake the whole School at
assernbly for some time and the Art Room, belween the Hall and the Elliott
wing, was an extremely dark and dingy room though quite latge. Planning
for & new hall, Music Rooms and Classrooms begaa in 1969 and afler
planning difficulties, work began in April 1970, By the Gaster Term 1971 the
new Hall was in use and has not been altered to this day. Rear Admiral
Walter Evershed was chairman of Governors while the new Hall was being
puilt, but sadly died before the building was completed; the large Music
Room is named alter him,

Ttis worth mentioning that the School's existénce was once again threatened
in the 1970s by the plans of Brighton Corporation to make the whole of
Eastern Road Into a dual carriageway and Lo route it through the Schoaol
grounds. Ome toute proposed went through the west field, the Swimming
Pool, the Stage and Music Rooms, the olher between the Hall itself and
Elliott House. Various contingency plans were prepared to meet this threal
but there is no doubt that, if the road had been built, the damaging elfect
would have been so great that sooner or later the Schoal weuld have had 1o
close on its present site. Happily, political developments mede the scheme
wnaffordable and the planning blight was eventually removed at the end of
the decade.

The Five-Year:Plan was continued with the conversion of the nld Sanatorium
0 an Art Block and this was in use by 1973. The modernisation of
dormitaries, bathrooms, wash places eic in 5t Hilary completed the plan

- which had been drawn up in 1966/67.

Miss Davies had been "head-hunted’ by St Swithuns, Winchester, and loft St
| Mary’s Hall &t the end of the academic year 1972/1973 to be replaced as
| Headmistress by Mrs E.O.E. Leslie. The School was, at the change of

‘Headmistresses, in splendid shape and bulging at the seams.  More



classrooms were needed, however, and the new Headmistress argued the
case, most convincingly, for an indoor heated swimming pool in the same
complex. Planning began on the present Pool Block desplie a frightening
economlc climate which saw 20% (nflation, massive wage and salary awards
2nd consequently soaring school fees. Work began on the FPool in March 1975
and it was hoped that an Appeal would help Lo pay for & large part of the
cost. The Appeal Target of E50.000 was nol met, however, and the
campaign was ended early.

An unfortunate and costly decision was made in November of this year when
varlous ways and means lo effect economies were belng considered. The
School was acknowledged to be overstaffed and it was decided 10 adopt a
three form entry in order to make economies! The idea was to enlarge the
School to three forms of 24 glrls in each form 30 25 to 2void reducing the
teaching staif - this would have bean sensible if the School had ever managed
ta fill a three form entry and it was to be 12 years before this uneconomical
policy was abandoned. With little likelihood of achieving the required
numbers, this costly policy should have been corsected eaclier, but the
decision to abandon It kept being put off in the hope Lhal the extrs aumbers
would be forthcoming,

On 7th May 1976 the Pool Block was officially opened by the Bishop of
Chichester with the Head Girl, Sandra Jantuah, taking the first plunge. A
plaque outside the Geography Room recalls the legacy of Miss Evelyn Odell,
which helped to fund the new building. Miss Odell had been 2 Geography
Teacher at the School and her brother, Professor NLE. Odell, had been with
Mallory and Irvine in the 1934 Attempt on Mount Everest. In the search for
Mallory and Irvine, Odell fallowed them to 27,500 feet without oxygen, an
oulstanding feat and a record which stood for very many years. Frofessar
Odell was unable to be present for the unveiling of the plague but visited Lhe
School at a later date.

With the many small classes of the three form entry there wasan urgent need
for another laboratory and the old Room M was converted to a General
Science Laboratory in 1977, In this year too, a new Constitution for the
School was agreed with the Charity Commissioners. In effect this was a
general tidying up and bringing up to date on the various Trusts involving

the School. An important effect of the new scheme was that the position of
Clergy Daughters, for whom the land and bulldings were largely made
svailable in the first place, was now pul on a firm basis with bursaries 1o be
available in future up to a limit of 5% of the fee income received in respeot
of puplls other than the Clergy Daughters,

Despite inflation still mging and with fee increases of 20% which should have
been 30%, it was appreciated that improved Sinth Form facilities were
required and planning accordingly began for Venn House in 1980, The work
was nearlng completion when Mrs Leslie retired at the end of the Summer
Term 1981 and the house was formally opened by the Bishop of Chichesler
on the 10th October.

Miss M.P.C. Harvey took over from Mrs Leslie in September 1981, She had
eome from Badminton School and was a very experienced Headmistress, St
Mary's Hall being her third appointment as Head, When she had settled in
she quickly queried the need for a three form school, but again the matter
wag leftin the hope that somethjn; would turn up. She alss npprm:httd the
need to enlarge the Junior School and planning began for & new classiroom
block. This building was finally completed in 1983, occupying the site to the
east of the Art Block - It ks now used by the Mathematics Depariment.

Fears over anorexia were finally put aside and in the Summer of 1932 the new
Cafeteria System was installed, A marked improvement in the quality of the
meals was immediately apparent, the gisls were very pleased and it didn't
cost any more than the old “family service’. There had been ample food of
good quality but the menus tended o be monotonous and there was no
choice. Every week saw the appearance on each table of a large sausagemeat
woll - [t was surprigingly quite popular and known to the girls as "Baby
Maud”|

An garller application had been made by 5t Mary's Hall to join the Assisted
Flaces Seheme without success, but ln 1982 a furiber successful application
‘was made and the School has participaled in the Scheme as from Seplember
1983. This has been a greal success in St Mary’s Hall, enabling many
thildren to enjoy the benefits of the School who would otherwise have been
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prevented from doing so through the inability of their parents to meet the
fees.

The 150th Anniversary of the School was approaching and thought began to
be glven as to what should be done to mark the occasion, All were agreed
that & Craft, Design and Technology facility was top priority and it was then
heard that St Mark’s was likely to be made redundant and might be offered
10 the School. There was some hesitancy about taking on this commitment,
but after considering all the implications it was agreed that the School would
like to take over the church subject Lo a salisfaclory survey. The survey was
pretty frightening but by this stage everyone had realised what an assel St
Mark's would be and, the legal niceties having been completed, the School
began using the Church again for morning assemblies and worship in 1387,
after certain basic alterations and Improvements to the heating had bean
carried out.

The 27th June 1986 was chosen as the 150th Anniversary Day. The
Programume for the day included a Thanksgiving Service in the foreacon
with His Grace the Archbishop of Canterbury preaching the Sermon, a
Governor's Luncheon, an Open Day in the afternoon and a Grand Ball in the
evening with a Marquee on the West Field, 2 Dinner/Dance in the Hall and
a Disco in the Dining Hall. A very happy day for the very many (rends of
the School who celebrated the occaslon.

The Appeal run to raise funds for the 150th Anniversary Developments, the
CDT Facility and improvements to 5t Mark's, was again di.'lppuinl{n! but
nevertheless the useful sum of £81,583 was mised, This paid for the COT
Facility, the essentlal repalrs, new heating and alterations to 5t Mask's, for
the updating of the stage lighting in the Hall and the provision of & Concert
Grand Piano for the Music Department.

The Appeal brochure outlined a radlcal adaptation of 51 Mark's for School use
so that it could be used as a Chapel and for both Music and Dvama, The
estimated cost of such a conversion was enormous and quite out of the
guestion; it was moreover reasoned that much drama would be quite
inappropriale In a Chapel. It was appreciated that there was slready 2
perfecily sallafactory stage anyway and it was considered to be a better

investment to imprave the existing theatre and to keep 51 Mark's as a Chapel
and for music only. Everyone is now agreed thar this was the right decision.

The end of the year saw the abandonment of the Three Form Entry and
realisation of the need to build further accommodation for the Junior Schoal
with the idea that a larger Junior School would feed greater numbers af gicks
into the Senfor School Numbers entering directly Into the Senjor School had
been falling off and this factor, combined wilth high (nlevest rates introduced
to combat the high inflation of recent years, put great pressure on the
School’s finances. Large sums had been borrowed to finance essential
development and the further Investment now required for the Juaios Schoal
waa nol available, Careful thought was given 1o ways and means of pulting
the finances on a better footing and once again the disposal of the South
Field was considered. ‘The field was little used by the School and for many
years there had been a threat by Brighton Carporation lo purchase it
compulsorily as "public open space” ai agriculturai values - no doubt for
further development by them at a later date!

After much deliberation it was decided lo dispose of the fiold, planning
permission was obisined on appeal and the Tand sold for a very good figure
at the peak of the market. Monihs later the housing market was in the
doldrums and the bottom had fallen out of the market for bullding land!

Having sold the field, the decision to go ahead with building Gloucester
House was taken in the light of the continuing growth and success of the
Junior School.

The first Hurricane had been experienced by the School whils it was still
building and now, during the night of 15th/16th October 1387, there was
snother, All considered, the School was relatively lucky, though the
appalling damage on the morning of the 16th October was pretty daunting.
The worst damage was to the roof af 5t Mack's - all aspects suffered to some
‘#xtent, but practically every slate was taken off Lhe north main roof, the lee

side. Damage to the Hsll was malnly that of slates ripped off, skylights

blown away and one chimney pot through the roof. Tiles were off the Arl
Block and the new Junlor School Classrooms, and walls had been blown

down or 50 badly damaged that they had to be taken down later, amongsl



them the passageway wall between the Fool Block and the Main Schoal,
Several trees in the grounds were blown down but perhaps the most
l'n'BhI.eninB nis_ht was the remaval of large pieces of stone from the pinnacies
on the west face of the Hall and their deposit onto the grass quadrungle
about half way between the Hall and the Art Block! Any picce of this flying
debris could easily have killed someone.

School was mot interrupted, however, and the Maintenance Staff buckled
down to repairs. As we undertook to carry put most of the repairs ourselves,
the insurers were very helplul, meeting all our couts, including the extensive
repairs that had o be done to the aailsick roof of 51 Mark's. Repairs o the
minor roals of the church were a joint effort bul the whale of the nosth maln
roof was re-slated by the caretaker, Mr Brian Blinco and his son Carl - &
splendid achievement,

Disaster struck again when the Contract painting firm set St Hilary alight on
Good Friday 1988. Considerable damage was done when a blowlamp ignited
fluff behind a shutter and the School owes a great deal 1o the Fire Brigade,
who contained the fire most efficlently. Tt was, however, many months
before the whale house was again fit for habitation.

Migs Harvey retired al the end of this school year with the planning for
Gloucester House well advanced and the new CDT facllities in the Elllowt
wing equipped and in use. The South Fleld sale had gone through and with
the school in the soundest state it had been in since jts foundation, Miss
Harvey handed over to Mrs Broadbent,

Gloucester House planning proved difficult bul work began in the early
spring of 1989 and the Junior School took possession for the Aulumn Term
The official opening was performed by HRH the Duchess of Gloucesler on
20th Ocrober.

This year alao saw the conversion of one of the new class rooms over the Hall
for Tnformation Technology and the installotion of a Nimbus Network
System.

The numbers of boarders had fallen below the 100 mark some years
previously and 1983/%0 was to see 2 further sudden drop from 85 to 66,
These numbers could no longer justify the running of two large boarding
houses and Bllioit House waa aceosdingly converted by Sehool Sl inko
additional classrooms for the use of a silll growing [unior School during the
sammer of 1530,

What does the future hold? It is considered wnlikely that there will be any
furiher political threat to independent schools, in view of recent and
welcome changes in socialist thinking. Certainly & soclalist government
would add lo the eosts of Independent schools and many deeply in debt,
would find Il difficull to survive. In the opinion of the wriler the real threat
has come with the economic decline of the couniry with fewer prople able to
afford the large fees thal are necessary today, In addition, with the ‘epling
out’ of many state schools there is bound to be an increasing number of very
good schonls indeed in the maintained sector thus reducing still further the
number of parents who will be prepared o pay fees,

St Mary's Hall is, howewer, in a very strong position to survive, It may, and
probably will, be necessary to accept change over the coming years but the
schoal iz well placed |._;g-|.13|‘apl‘l1l:«]IyP is nol in debt and has all the buildings
snd equipment necessary for the foreseeable future, It is felt, most strongly,
that there will always be a demand lor good schools for girls - indeed the
pendulum will undoubledly swing the other way when maore peaple realise
that coeducation In independent schools is not in the best interests of the
great majority of girls.

“The Princess Ronal, with Miss Conmady, fmsperty thr Guides, 1956



Chapter § - Miscellanea

Discipline, Dress, Customs and Traditlons, Schoel Names
Discipline and Funishments

Corporal punishment for girls In Independent Schools has always been very
rare, though birching seems Lo have taken place at Cagterton. Here also
trouble makers were imprisoned in a cage under the stalrs. There s no
record of such extreme measures being used at 5t Mary’s Hall even in the
early days and it would seem that the Lady Superintendent and her staff
soon learned that most girls could be punished adequalely by an expression
o{diuppmul from their teactiers or in an extreme case from a Trustee. Girls
could not explain to their brathers how they wore disciplined and the boys,
who were used lo being flogged for every minor offeace, could nmot
understand how this mild trestment had the necessary effect.

The School was of course In a strong position for there was always a lang
walting list and any girl expelled could be easily replaced, Between 1836 and
1850, ten girls were sent home as ‘most unsatislsclory’ by order of Lhe
Trustees. Pupil No 7, one Mary Ann Jones, aged 16, came in 1836 and was
sent home in 1837 as 2n 'undesirable influence.’ Her crime cannot have bean
very greal for the atmosphere of the School in those days was almost
certainly somewhat hursh and puritanical like that of most other similar
foundations, lhnll!,'ll. from the beginning St Mary's Hall seems to have bren
happier and more easy going than mast.

Not withstanding the above, the School seemed to have invented some
punishments of its own by the late 1850s;

Hours spent lylng flal on the back on the Nursery floor

Days spent sitting on the lockers in the large schouhoom, hemming
dusters

Salitary meals eaten at a side table in the Dining Room

Belng sent to bed frequently throughout the day
And then, as frequently being obliged to get up and dress again

It seems that the culprits got wise to the routine of belng sent to bed and
used to pul their nighldresses on over their day clothes thus amellarating
both phases of Lthe punishment!

In 1869 one old girl recalls: YOne afternoon some girls had bean sent up to
scrub the dormitory. When Miss Newport went up the floor was not dry,
50 she gol every pirl in the house and they ironed the floor.*

Another old girl writes al the same time,

“We had 1o stay in on the half-holidays n May and then we had to
write down “I have worked diligently, [ have done my exercises and
1 have not talked to my neighbour,”

She goes on to say, howewer,

“we were all very fond of the stall. Sometimes on Sundays Miss
Newport used to lake us out on the Downs with her pockets full of
apples.”

Writing lines has gone out of fashion as has sending to bed - most of the
younger generatlon today would hardly regard this as a punishment!
Disapproval in various forms still seems to be the most comman way of
eontrolling the girls, with detention for the more sedious offences,

Dress

The history of school dress has to a large extent been losl in the mists of
time. We know the items worn by the Ffirst puplls und in 1869 one ald glel
recalled *.__as s00m as we amrived we had to pul on the uniform, which was
a dark sort of purple with & black cloak. We also had ko wear bonnets and
8 bonnet cap which filted close to the head so that our hair should not soil
the bonnets,



This early uniform was provided by the School and the policy was
maintained until 1881 when uniform was no loager requiced. [t s nol clear
when uniform was again introduced but the following clothing regulations
and outfit lst are from an early prospectus during Miss Ghey's headship,
probably just before the First World War.

11

CLOTHING REGULATIONS

Sailor hats with School colours are worn on both Sundays and week-days

. Woollen underwear i3 indispensable: for winter it should be thick and

warm

. Meat white frilling or collars should be woen with all dark dresses

Slippers and shoes must have low heels

Girls in the Lower School wear their dark blue overalls in Schoal &l tea-
Hme; Hitle ones then put on white pinafores.

. A wmall charge of ds 9d a term is made for laundry, to cover the washing

of blouses, collars, table-napkins, etc

. All shirts must have pockets

Al articles {silver included) must be Fully marked with the owner's
Christian name and Surname

. All articles enumerated (but not mare) should be provided, and replaced

or repaired every term

. Please pack all that is necessary for the first night separately in small bag

A waich and two brooches are allowed: no other jewellery may be
brought to School

QUTEIT LIST
(Schon) Colours: Dack Blue and Gald)
TO BE FROCURED AT THE SCHOGL

I while sailar hats with School dbbon
1 5chool cap, tie and belt

1 drill tunic (dark blue serge)

I garden hat (Summer term)

1 pair drill shoes

TO BF BROUGHT FROM HOME

REGULATION DRESS (SUNDAYS)

Dark blue coat and skirt with 2 white shirl-blouses
(In Summer) white serge coat and skirt

(WEEK-DAYS)

Dark blue every-day dress

{in Sumumer 2 dark blue cotton dresses

1 lighter frock, or 2 blouses and skirt for evenligs
1 short dark blue skirt for games

2 white flannel blouses for games

1 best white mushin frock (high neck and long sleeves)
1 dark blue coat {thick in winter)

Searf, and al least 2 pairs gloves

2 dark blue overalls with Tong sleeves

4 while pinafores (for little anes)

2 pairs strong boots or shoes to lace

1 pair brown boots for hockey

2 paivs house slippers with low heels

1 woallen dressing-gown, and bedroom slippers

I dressing-jacket

1 warm navy petticoat and 2 white pelticoats

4 bodices (for winler, woollen, with long sleeves)
2 pairs navy knickers, 4 linings

4 sets of underwear



A nightgownsa (woollen in winter),

(If flannelette is used, it must be “Non-Inflammable”)
At least 3 pairs black stockings (not open-work)
At least 3 pairs brown stockings (not open-work)
Suspenders
1B handkerchiels
Black hair-ribbon or plain velvet band
1 shawl
1 long waterproof
1 umbrelia
1 rug
2 bags for linen, 2 for brush, 1 for slippers
2 hath towels, 2 face towels
2 pairs small sheets, 2 pillow cases (23x17)

2 table napkins and ring

1 clothes brush, 2 brushes and combs

1 purse to hang round neck

1 supply of mending materials

1 blotling-bouk and stationery

1 tea-spoon, dessert-spoon and fork

1 travelling-bag or basket (see rule 10 opposite)
1 piece of needlework

1 Bible with relerences, 1 Revised Bible

1 Prayer Book and hymns A & M

1 strip of tape wilh name 12 times marked

Straw boslers or sszilor hats 25 they were called then, looked most attractive,
but in the thirties they became expensive to buy, they got damaged very
easily and most schools dropped them as ilems of uniform afier the Second
World War. The school c2p was an ugly item but | cannct establish how lang
it was in use,

In the 19205 and 305 the gymn slip became a popular item of clothing in girls’
schoals. There are photographs of 5t Mary’s Hall girls wearing gym slips in
classes and for games - the School tle and blouse were still worn underneath!
They wore blue overalls for classwork.

The very mtrractive Seiel flask was introduced afbes the Seeond Winld War
end wias uriginally lined with a gold maledizl. Tater house colours were used
ingide the honds but this ilem, like the seilor's haly, has now becemo
exlremely expenFive and is mn lanper ebligatnry

A Schonl Tinilorm was wern by evervone dyeing the working day unt! the
Second World War. Photographs stunwing senior girls wearing plain clothes
eul ol schonl howrs indicace thal Uhen privilege goes back 2 long way burit is
wily ainee the schesl reapened that Sixth Formers lzve been allowed tn wear
plain clothes all the time,

Records du not show when the present schonl colours for uniform were
intmdoced. Itis belleved that they were adepted when (he sehnn] Teopened
2iter the war and they weve certzinly in use b the 1%60s. Schanl uriform has
been sublect tn constant cleage snd cimplification due i (he increased costs
af special clothing end Lo fashiim. The candy striped dresses warn in the
Summer Terms trom the 1980 to the 19808 became unpopuler for instance
and a1 summer Lhe grey skivl (5 aow woern with ahort sleeved blouses. Tae
curtent schanl uniform ligt is as lollows

Senior Sehoal Clathes List
I, Pyvery girl iz allocaied = competitive house as follows:
L. Adelside - Orange 1, Bubinpgton - Furple
2. Fristol - Blee 4, Chichester - Geeesn

2. Bvervihing on this 45t musl be clearly named. A Hoe ie made for every
artiche that is ysramed

3 Fwery gl must b & copy of the Goud News Bible, o Pucket Dxford
Ticlionery. and a Philllp’s Modern School Atlas,

4. Allarticles thould be checked doring the hollduys wensure that they are
iy gnd repals.



5. The school cannot accept responsibility for jewellery but girla may wear
2 simple cross or other religious emblem provided it is worn
unobtrusively. Watches and valuable pens should be clearly engraved
with the owner's name,

DAY GIRLS AND BOARDERS - ALL THREE TERMS

Regulation coat

Regulation grey pleated skirts

Regulation blue blazer with badge (badge In house competitive colour)
Blue-striped cotton blouses, long or short gleeved

Cardigans or V-necked jumpers

Mid-grey andfor white % length socks and/or tights (plain black or grey)
Blue overall (named outside)

Music case (for music students)

“Book-bag” with shoulder strop (prefecable a back-pack)

FE Gquipment To be named pn the outside
it would be helpful if ingtructions glven for naming ceriain items are
other’s clothes,

Large shoe bag (pillow case size)

Repulation games sweatshirt

Plain navy jogging pants

Regulation navy skirt - embroidered initlals in competitive house colour, at
bottom left hand cormer

Begulation white games shirts - embroidered initials in compelilive hause
colour, lefl lapel

Mavy ankle or ¥ socks

Mavy panis

Pair white plimsolls ar trainers aot training boots

Fair lacrosse boots

Regulation royal blue swimming costume {named front left legd
Swimming cap (competitive house colour)

Swimming towel with loop for hanging on wodth of towel, name tape by
loap
Lacrosse stick - Form 1 upwards )

)} Cam be bought from school with
Tennis racquet - Summer Term anly ) wrilten permission of parents
DOptiona! ltems
Scarf
Glaves (plain brown, grey or navy)
Purse belt
Tennis whites

Shaes
Sensible shoes In plain black, brown ar grey

Summar Term only
Short sleeved blouses may be worn with grey pleated skirls.




Customs and Traditions

Washing  In the late 18605 an old girl wrote “we used to hawe iwo basins
in our dermiteries. They were both filled, one for night and ome for
morning. They were very particular about our washing,

There was often ice on the basins in the mornings and it was not untl 1870
that hot and cold water waz laid on to the dormitories; withaul proper
bathrooms personal hygiene must have been difficult i not impossible. The
washing of hair must have been infrequent and this is no doube why bonnet
caps were required (o protect the bonnets from greasy hair.

The records are extremely hazy aboul the provision of bathreoms but it (s
unlikely thal the first baths became available before the 1690 improvements
to dormitories.

Routine  The girls got up 2t 6.00 or 6.30 In Miss Newport's dey and were
given an hour to dress. They them had lemg prayers and a lecture,
presumably religious, before breakfast. An old girl recallvd that they always
had guantities of ehubark jam for breakfast and every maorning had lo recite
twa verses of scriplure. Hee ambltion was to et Into the Sixth Form 1o leaen
the Articles of Religlon,

Another old girl remermbers that they learnt a great deal of seripture in those
days. During each of the two terms they had to learn 18 Psslms, all the
Collects for the texm, four or five chapters from the Now Testament, the
Catechism and half of the 3% Articles and Scripture proafs for each bit. They
had one hour of Seripture lesson each morning after breakfast.

At the turn of the Century the daily rouline was not quite so harsh

7.00
7.45
8.30
9.00
915
11.15
11.45
.30

Bell 2040 Recreation, Walks,

Breakfast Gardendng, o

Garden 4.0-5.0 Freparalion

Prayers B 15 Tea

Les=sons B.00 Frayers

Lunch in Gasden 6,15 Prep for Seniars

Lessons Recreation for Juniors

Dinner 7.7 Supper + Bed for Juniors
745 Recreation for Seniorg

8.15 SupperiBed for Seniors

This was of course a routine suilable for an all boarding school and fncluded
Suturdays. Wednesday was 2 hali-day.

By the 19205 some modification had been made W this daily routine, but the
framewnrk remained essentially the same. One could imagine that the 1930
saw same radical change as the numbers of day girls Increased though we
have no record of how or when thix was done,

As the School became predominanily a day school, the daily routine changed
ta the routine that & used today with minor variztions from time to Lime.

The presenl day rouline is as follows:

Fram

07.25
DR 10
09.40
10.30

12.50 - 1400

16.00

16.30 - 18,30

18.00

19.00

Wake up

Breakfasi

Registration followed by normal school day

Brieak

Lunch

Aflernoon Tea

Preparation

girls may swim, use the [T Room, Music Cells and
Library with permission

Hetum to Boarding House




2000 - 22.30  Bed, sccording to age

The Sixth Form have a slighily different routine with Comman Room cleared
and T.¥. off at 22.30, with bed and lights out at 23.00.

This routine is for Monday - Friday

Baarding routine over Ssturdays and Sundays is nowadays very misch more
flexible with growing numbers of weekly boarders,

Exeats in the Autumn and Spring Terms may be taken on any week-end but
in the Summer Term there ame two fixed long exeats in addltion.

Rules snd Repulations

Most independent girls schools have a tradition of 4 large number of Tales
and regulations. 5t Mary's Hall seems to have come out of this rather well -
there have always been rules of course, they are necessary In an organisation
such as a schoal - but St Mary's Hall seems to have escaped the usual
plethora. The only written rules [ have come across apply to Day Girls in
their early days and some of these seem quaint today.

"Parents are asked to limit the girls’ attendance at places of
entertainment as much as possible during tecm, in the girls'
own interests, and 1o confine evening entertalnments to
Saturdays only.”

“Parents are requested Lo consult the Headmistress before
permission (s given to a girl Lo Lake part in any out of schoo]
activities.”

Traditign

There do not appear to be many left today. Until quile recently anly Sixth

Formers were allowed to use the front door - every other girl had to use the

Fupils’ Door between the Main Bullding and the Elliott Wing,

Traffic on the slalrcases had to keep Lo the left. This was the firm rule

despite the fact that it deprived those going upstairs of the assistance of the
bannisters|

The steps down past the Rockery were apparently known as the Postman's
Steps. The postman used this apprach to the School in the days before the
universal use of postal vans for all deliveries.

The Chrysanthemum used to be, and still Is, the School’s flaral emblem.
There was once a Schosl Crest designed with the flower as the central motif
and a white chrysanthemum is stll worn by girls being confirmed. There are
eldn special gowns for confirmands which are still used and the origin of
which is unknown - It is known that they were being used as long Bg0 as
1919,

Dlpeming of the o, 1976



gchenl Names

Many names are used, or have been used, in the School, the reason for which
may not be apparent today.

BABINGTON, The Reverend Juhn (fater Canon)

A friend of the Founder's at Cambridge znd one of the orlginal Trustess. He
wiak a generous benefactor of the School and afier the Founder's death he
served as Homorary Secretary of the Trustees for twenty years,

CHICHESTER, The Earl of

Like Canon Babington, he was one of the original Trustees and Benefactors.
After the death of the Founder he played an important rele in the running
of the School devoting 49 years in all to this work.

BRISTOL., The Marquess of

Gave much of the land un which the Schoel now stands and gonerous
personal and financlal support to the School for many years. Built the main
labric of 5t Mark’s [ar the School and for the Pasish.

ADELAIDE,

First Patroness of the School and Benefactor tagether with His Majesty King
William TV. Afler the death of the King she continued to tske a great interest
in 5t Mary’s Hall and remained its Paltoness and Benefactor until her death
in 1850,

YENMN, The Family Name of Charles Fllioil's second wile, Eling.
This meme was given to the Founder and used again in subsequent
generalions af the family,

ST HILARY

A 5t Hilary (AD 44%) was Hishop of Arles and another St Hilary (AT 368) was
Bishop of Poitiers, Why this name was chosen for a School House, one
cannot imagine, unless this was the original name given 1o No 2 Sussex

Square by its previous owners,

GLOUCESTER

An early association exists between Duchesses of Cloucester and St Mary's
Hall, Her Royal Highness having visited the School [n 1848, In 1989 another
Duchess of Gloucester visited us and opened the new Junior Schonl, Her

Royal Highness also gave her permission for the new building to be named
after her.

CHRONOLOGY

1830 Accession of King William 1V and Queen Adelaide
1831  The Founder visits Cowan Bridge
1832 First School Prospectus
1834 215t April Foundation Stone of 5t Mary's Hall laid
1835 Foundation of Brighton Police Force
183  1st August School opens
1837  Death of the King. Accession of Queen Victuria
1840  Arighton - Shoreham Rallway opened
Penny Post introduced
1841  Brighton - London Railway opened
1843 M.E. Wing built
1845  Death of School Architect, Mr George Basevi
1848 Vislt of H.R.H the Duchess of Gloucester
184% 5t Mark’s Church consecrated
1850 Christmas Halidays introduced
1854-56 Crimean War
1859  15th February Death of the Marquess of Bristol
1881  Outbreak of American Clvil War
1855  Death of Founder, the Reverend H V Elliott
End of American Civil War
1867  Outside examiners used for the first time
16th October - Firat Founder’s Day held
1870 M.W. Wing built
Foundation of the St Mary’s Hall Association
1872  Firsl examinations set by University of Cambridge
1876  Firsl local public examinations of the Cambridge Syndicale taken by
girls of 5t Mary's Hall
1E81  ¥st January School Uniform discontinued
1885 Completion of the Sanatorium (now the Arn Block)
First tecord of Science being taught.
1890  Improvements to dormitories N.W. Wing
18%6  27th Oetober Vislt of H.R.H. The Princess Christian of Schleswig-
Holstein



1898
1859

1900
1501

1302
1903

1307
1908

1910

1514

1915
1918

1921

1926
1924
1930

1933

Oetober Ellintt Wing butlt

Opening of Elliott Wing by H.R.H, Princess Christian

11th October Outbreak of the Boer War

18th May Relief of Maleking celebrations

2ind January Death of Queen Victoria

Accession of King Edward VIT

31st May End of Boer War

Sclence Laboratory built (now the Home Ecanomics Rooms)

17th December First Concert given by a School Orchestra

First day glrls acrepted

1fith February H.M King Edward VII attended morning service in St
Mark's, S5t Mary's Hall girls were in the congregation

Original Elliott Hall completed

5t Mary's Hall inspected and ‘recognised” as efficlent by the Roard
of Education

Death of King Edward V11, Accession of H M. King George V
Two houses in Hervey Terrace purchased

22nd October Commendation by Council of the Royal Drawing
Soclely

Outbreak of Great War

16th February Eastor Holidays instituted

Hith November Asmistice. Thanksgiving Service In S5t Mark's
September Opendng of 51 Hilary, 2 Sussex Square

October St Mary’s Hall recognised by Board of Education for the
leachers to join the State Superannuation Scheme

2ind November Visit of H.R.H, the Princess May

Two Further houses in Hervey Termace ‘purchased for use as
addilional classrooms

No 22 Sussex Square purchased and opened as = Junlor School.
Known as S5t Nichalas House

Ne 21 Sussex Square purchased for use by Junior Boarders
Electric Lighting installation beging

No 4 Clarenden Terrace purchased and opened for boarding as
Hebbert House

Nos 2 and 3 Chichester Terrace purchased and opened for boarding

1934
1936

1937
1939
1340

1943
1946
1947

1946
1951
1552

1453

1956
1957
1967

1971
1973

197576

1961
1952
1343

as Babington House

Partial central heating installed in the Hall

Hebbert House closed

Centenury Year

January Death of King George V Accession of H.M. King Fdward
Vi

Hebbert House, No 4 Clarendon Terrace, sold

Qutbreak of Second Warld War

Closure of School at end of Summer Term

Bulldings requisitioned by War Department

Bambing of Hervey Tersace

Re-opening of Babington House as a Schaol for Junlor Day Girls
22nd February Thanksgiving Service in St Mark's for the re-opening
of the School

Senior School re-opens

Nos 21722 Sussex Square re-opened as 51 Hllary

Opening of Elliott House - 25 September

Death of H.M. King George VL.

Accession of H.M. Queen Elizabeth II

Home Economics Room refurbished and opened on present site
Coronation of H.M. The Queen

Sir Edmund Hilary and Sherpa Tensing conquer Mt Everest
30tk May Visit by H.ILH. The Princess Royal

House System introduced

New Dining Hall and Kitchen constructed

Room K and L and Staff Sitting Room established

Babington House, 23 Chichester Terrace sold

New Hall, Classrooms and Music Rooms buill

Senstorium converted for use by the Art Department
Swimming Pool Complex buflt. Opened 7th May 1976

Venn House built. Opened 10th October 1981

Cafeleria system introduced

Seplember School parlicipates in the Assisted Places Schema
New classroom black buflt for Juniar School

(new Mathematics Department)



1985
1987

1590

150th Anniversary

15th/16th Detober Husricane!

5t Mark's returned 1o St Mary's Hall

Technology Room equipped and in use

South Field sold

Ist April St Hilary Fire

Gloucester House opened by H.R.H, the Duchess of Gloucester on
20th October

Elliott House converted from Boarding House for use 25 clagsrooms
by Junior Schaol
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